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DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

Appel  ant Juan Garcia Rodriguez was charged in two separate
indictnments for his role in the illegal transporting of aliens.
The indictnents included charges of conspiracy, transportation of
al i ens and noney | aundering. Rodriguez was ultinmately sentenced to
eighteen nonths for an alien-transporting charge in the first
i ndi ct nent . After a jury trial for the second indictnent,
Rodriguez was found gquilty on three counts involving noney

| aundering and was sentenced to 80 nonths’ inprisonnent to run



concurrent to his 18-nonth sentence. Rodri guez now appeal s,
asserting that the evidence was insufficient to convict himof the
nmoney- | aunderi ng charges, that the district court failed to conduct
a proper inquiry into his waiver of conflict-free counsel and that
the total offense level in the pre-sentencing report (“PSR’) was
erroneously based on his incone rather than on the actual anount of

nmoney | aunder ed.

BACKGROUND

Begi nning in 1996, Juan Garcia Rodriguez (“Rodriguez”) was
engaged in an operation snuggling undocunented aliens from Mexico
to North Texas, primarily to Dallas or Garland, Texas. He would
charge the aliens between $1,000 and $1,200 each per trip.
Rodriguez also recruited his brother, Juan Antonio Garcia
(“Garcia”), to participate in his snuggling operation.

I n Sept enber 1999, Garci a and Rodri guez’s stepson, Juan Garci a
Rodriguez (“Juan”), were apprehended at the Sarita, Texas,
checkpoint while transporting nine illegal aliens in the back of a
1999 Ford conversion van. (Garcia cooperated with the governnent
and identified Rodriguez as the | eader of the snuggling operation.
As a result of Garcia s cooperation, the governnent initiated an
investigation of Rodriguez and established surveillance at his

resi dence.



On January 21, 2000, Rodriguez was stopped at the United
St ates Border Checkpoint facility south of Falfurrias, Texas, and
was arrested. He was acconpanied by his 16-year-old daughter and
Garcia. Rodriguez was driving a 1997 Chevrol et G van conversion,
the vehicle subject to the charges contained in counts one, seven
and ni ne on appeal before this Court. In the rear of the vehicle,
conceal ed beneath and behind clothing and other materials, were
seven undocunented aliens.

Based upon the information supplied by Garcia and other
corroborating information, the governnent obtai ned a search warrant
for Rodriguez’s house and executed it on January 21, 2000. The
search reveal ed a nunber of financial docunents and records that
formed the basis of the subsequent noney | aundering charges. The

search also revealed cash, multiple vehicles and many persona

luxury itens. The records obtained were used to establish
Rodriguez’s vyearly expenditures from 1996-2000. These were
conpared to Rodriguez’s recorded annual incone. The records

reveal ed that Rodriguez earned a total of $93, 103.22 between 1996
and 2000, but spent $368,787.07 for a docunented differential of
$275, 683. 85.

The 1997 Chevrolet G van conversion that Rodriguez was
arrested in, and which is the subject of the noney | aundering
counts on appeal, was originally purchased in Garcia s nane by

Rodr i guez. Rodriguez told the salesperson that he had just



recently gotten married and that is why the vehicle had to be in
Garcia s nane. However, it appears that the vehicle was chosen by
Rodriguez and that it was Rodriguez who negotiated the price.
Furthernore, it was Rodriguez who picked up the car’s license
pl ates on Cctober 16, 1997. Rodriguez gave Garcia $18,000 to pay
for the van on Cctober 16, 1997. (Garcia then paid the renaining
bal ance of the vehicle on Novenber 10, 1997, which anmounted to
$10, 209.42; Carcia testified that he received this amunt from
Rodriguez. This all occurred during a period in which Rodriguez
was depositing and wi thdrawi ng | arge suns of nopney into and out of
his bank account, including an insurance settlenent check for
$10, 884.25. About six nonths after Novenber 10, 1997, Rodriguez
pur chased t he vehicle back fromGarcia for approximately $5,000 to
$6, 000. The vehicle was in Rodriguez’s nanme as of his arrest on
January 21, 2000.

Rodri guez was charged in an 11-count indictnment (No. 00-41041
on appeal or “No. ‘41") involving conspiracy, the transportation of
aliens and noney laundering in violation of 8 USC
8§ 1324(a)(1) (A (i)-(iii), (v)(I)-(11) and 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(1)
(A)(i). Pursuant to a plea agreenent, Rodriguez entered a plea of
guilty to one count of transporting aliens and the governnent
agreed to dismss the conspiracy count but retained the noney
| aundering counts. The governnent |ater noved to al so dism ss the

nmoney | aundering counts, but did so only to include the counts in



a subsequent ni ne-count indictnent (No. 00-41042 on appeal or “No.
“42") involving noney |aundering in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 2,
1956(a) (1) (A (i), 1957(a). Counts one through four of this
subsequent indictnent were the sane as counts ei ght through el even
in the previous indictnent (No. 41).

Rodriguez was ultimately sentenced in district court before
the Honorable Filenon B. Vela to 18 nonths for the alien
transporting charge in the first indictnent (No. ‘41). After a
jury trial for the second indictnent (No. ‘42), Rodriguez was found
guilty of counts one, seven and ni ne and sentenced by t he Honor abl e
Hlda G Tagle to 80 nonths’ inprisonment to run concurrent to his
18 nonth sentence. Count one charged Rodriguez with aiding and
abetting the conm ssion of noney |aundering by purchasing a 1997
Chevrolet Gvan with proceeds fromthe specified unlawful activity
of transporting and harboring illegal aliens in violation of 18
US C 88 2, 1956(a)(1)(A)(i). Count seven charged Rodriguez wth
engaging in financial transactions wth proceeds from unl awf ul
activity under 8 U S.C 8§ 1324 involving $10,209.42 for the
purchase of the 1997 Chevy Gvan in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 2,
1957(a). Count nine charged himw th noney | aunderi ng by engagi ng
in a financial transaction from proceeds from specified unlawf ul
activity under 8 U S.C 8§ 1324 wth the intent to conceal the
source of the $28,209.42 in proceeds i nvolving the 1997 Chevy G van

in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2, 1956(a)(1)(B)(i). Rodriguez now



appeals his sentence in No.‘ 42, asserting that the evidence was
insufficient to convict himof the noney |aundering charges, that
the district court failed to conduct a proper inquiry into his
wai ver of conflict-free counsel and that the total offense level in
the PSR was erroneously based on his inconme rather than on the

actual anount of noney | aunder ed.

DI SCUSSI ON

Rodri guez’s appeal as to the first indictment (No. 00-41041)

The governnent asserts that the notice of appeal filed by
Rodriguez in No. ‘41 is untinely but concedes that his notice of
appeal as to No. ‘42 is tinely. Rodriguez’s judgnent in No. ‘41
was pronounced on May 11, 2000 and formally entered on May 19,
2000. Rodriguez’s notice of appeal to No. ‘41 was filed on August
31, 2000. Under FED. R APP. P. 4(b)(1):

In a crimnal case, a defendant’s notice of appeal
must be filed in the district court within 10 days

after the later of:

(i) the entry of either the judgnent of the order
bei ng appeal ed; or

(ii) the filing of the governnment’s notice of
appeal .

The filing of a notice of appeal wthin the 10-day period
prescribed by this rule is mandatory and jurisdictional. United
States v. Robinson, 361 U. S. 220, 224 (1960) (addressing Rule 4(b)’s

predecessor rule). “Atinely notice of appeal is necessary to the



exercise of appellate jurisdiction.” United States v. Cooper, 135
F.3d 960, 961 (5th G r.1998) (citing Robinson, 361 U S. at 224).
“Sinply put, if a notice of appeal is untinely, we cannot entertain
the merits of a case.” United States v. Truesdale, 211 F.3d 898,
902 (5th Gir. 2000).

Rodri guez does not address the issue of the tineliness of the
notice of appeal in No. ‘41 in his brief and has filed no reply
brief as to this issue. Rodri guez al so does not raise a single
issue fromNo. ‘41 on appeal. Al of his clains concern errors in
his noney |aundering case, No. ‘42. As we are left wthout any
expl anation as to why we should rul e otherw se, Rodriguez’s appeal
as to No. ‘41 is dismssed for lack of jurisdiction due to the
untineliness of the notice of appeal wunder FebD. R Arp. P.
4(b) (1) (i).

The sufficiency of the evidence

When review ng the sufficiency of the evidence in a crimnal
case, this Court views the evidence, both circunstantial and
direct, in the light nost favorable to the governnent with al
reasonabl e i nferences to be nmade in support of the jury’ s verdict.
United States v. Mbser, 123 F.3d 813, 819 (5th Gr. 1997). I n
reviewing the jury’ s decision, this Court recognizes that the jury
is free to choose anong all reasonable constructions of the
evidence and this Court wll accept all credibility choices that

tend to support the jury's verdict. United States v. Dean, 59 F. 3d



1479, 1484 (5th Gr. 1995). “Mreover, we determ ne only whether
the jury made a rational decision, not whether its verdict was
correct on the issue of innocence or guilt.” 1d. (citing United
States v. Jaramllo, 42 F.3d 920, 923 (5th Gr. 1995)). “However,
we nust reverse a conviction if the evidence construed in favor of
the verdict ‘gives equal or nearly equal circunstantial support to
a theory of guilt and a theory of innocence of the crinme charged.’”
Jaram llo, 42 F.3d at 923 (quoting United States v. Menesses, 962
F.2d 420, 426 (5th Cr. 1992)).

Rodriguez clains that the jury had insufficient evidence to
cone to a guilty verdict on counts seven and ni ne. Count seven
charged Rodriguez with engaging in a financial transaction wth
proceeds from an unlawful activity under 8 US C 8§ 1324 in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2, 1957(a). To prove an of fense under 18
US C 8§ 1957(a), the governnent nust prove that (1) property
val ued at nore than $10, 000 was derived froma specified unlawf ul
activity (here transporting and harboring undocunented aliens); (2)
Rodri guez engaged in a financial transaction with the property (the
purchase of the van); and (3) Rodriguez knew that the property was
derived fromunlawful activity. United States v. WIlson, 249 F. 3d
366, 379 (5th CGr. 2001). Count nine charges Rodriguez wth noney
| aundering by engaging in a financial transaction from proceeds
froma specified unlawful activity under 8 U S.C. § 1324 with the

intent to conceal the source of the $28,209.42 in proceeds



involving the 1997 Chevy Gwvan in violation of 18 U S C 8§ 2,
1956(a)(1)(B)(i). To prove a violation of 8 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), the
governnent nust show that the defendant conducted a financial
transaction that he knew involved the proceeds of an unlawful
activity and that he did so knowng that the transaction was
i ntended to conceal or disguise the nature of the proceeds. United
States v. Powers, 168 F.3d 741, 747-48 (5th Gr. 1999) (stating
t hat the governnent “nmust show that the defendant desired to create
the appearance of legitimte wealth or otherwise to conceal the
nature of funds so that the noney could enter the econony as
legitimate funds”).

Rodri guez clai ns that the evidence was i nsufficient because it
did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the $10, 209. 42 that
was used to pay the remaining bal ance on the van on Novenber 10,
1997, involved the proceeds of the specified unlawful activity of
transporting and harboring aliens. Rodri guez specifically cites
the fact that he deposited a check for $10,884.25 into his bank
account on Septenber 15, 1997. He then w thdrew $10,700 on
Septenber 18, 1997 and he argues he could have used the noney he
wi t hdrew to purchase a cashier’s check for $10,209.42 in Novenber
1997, which was then used to pay the remaining bal ance on the van.
Rodriguez therefore clains that there is no proof that the

cashier’s check was purchased with the proceeds from an unl awf ul



activity and that he cannot be found guilty under counts seven and
ni ne.

Though Rodriguez offered an alternate legitimte source for
the funds used to purchase the van, Rodriguez ignores the fact that
the jury was free to discredit Rodriguez’s theory that the funds
used to acquire the Chevy van were from a legitinmate source.
United States v. Restrepo, 994 F.2d 173, 182 (5th Gr. 1993) (“The
jury is the final arbiter of the weight of the evidence, and of the
credibility of wtnesses”). The jury heard evidence from both
sides as to where the noney could have cone from including
evi dence that Rodriguez comm ngled his funds. Evidence that the
defendant commngled illegal proceeds with legitimte business
funds is sufficient to support a conviction under 8 1956. United
States v. Wlley, 57 F. 3d 1374, 1386 (5th Gr. 1995); United States
v. Jackson, 935 F.2d 832, 840 (7th Cr. 1991). “I1]t is not
necessary to prove with regard to any single transaction that the
def endant renoved all trace of his involvenent with the noney or
that the particular transaction charged is itself highly unusual.”
Wlley, 57 F.3d at 1386. The governnent is under no duty to trace
the i ndividual funds and “it is not necessary that a transaction be
exam ned wholly in isolation if the evidence tends to showthat it
is part of a larger schene that is designed to conceal illega
proceeds.” ld.; Jackson, 935 F.2d at 840 (“W do not read

Congress’s use of the word ‘involve’ as inposing the requirenent

10



that the governnent trace the origin of all funds deposited into a
bank account to determ ne exactly which funds were used for what
transaction.”). In short, the jury was free to discredit
Rodri guez’s explanation of the source of the funds and did so.
There was no error on the part of the jury and the evidence was
sufficient to support this finding.

Def ense counsel’s potential conflict of interest

Rodriguez also argues that the district court inadequately
inquired into a potential conflict of interest by Rodriguez’ s tri al
attorney Paul Hajjar. Hajjar represented Juan Garcia Rodriguez
(Rodriguez’s stepson) in his alien transporting case. Prior to
trial, Hajjar filed a “notice of potential conflict” with the
court, because apparently Garcia (not Juan Rodriguez) was |listed as
a potential witness. Hajjar did not allege, however, that he had
an actual conflict of interest. At a hearing held on May 19, 2000,
the district court inquired whether either party had any intention
of calling Juan Rodriguez as a Ww tness. Both Hajjar and the
governnent indicated that they did not intend to call Juan and
they both agreed that no actual conflict existed at that tine.
However, the governnment still sought a “waiver” from Rodriguez
concerning any “potential conflict.” Haj jar then discussed the
issue with Rodriguez over a brief recess and when he returned,
Rodri guez swore under oath that he was aware of Hajjar’s prior

representati on of Juan Rodriguez, aware of the “potential conflict

11



of interest,” had discussed the matter wth Hajjar and advi sed t hat
he did not want Hajjar to withdraw fromthe case. The court agreed
that there was no conflict of interest in the case because Juan
Rodri guez was not even a potential w tness.

“We review the district court’s acceptance of defendant’s
wai ver of conflict-free counsel for sinple error.” United States
v. Moore, 37 F.3d 169, 174 (5th Cir. 1994). The Sixth Amendnent
right to counsel includes the right to conflict-free counsel and a
conflict exists when the defense counsel places hinself in a
position conducive to divided loyalties. 1d. In asituation where
the defendant objects to his representation on the basis of a
conflict and the trial judge fails to inquire into the nerits of
the objection, the defendant is entitled to automatic reversal and
a newtrial. Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U S. 475, 488-90 (1978).
When there i s no objection fromthe defendant but the judge knew or
reasonably shoul d have known about an apparent conflict but fails
to make an inquiry, then the defendant is only required to show
that there was an actual conflict. Wod v. Garcia, 450 U S. 261
272-74, n.21 (1981). |If there is no objection and the conflict is
not apparent to the judge, then the defendant nust show that an
actual conflict existed and that this conflict adversely affected
his | awyer’s performance. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U S. 335, 347-48
(1980). In nost cases, it is the defense attorney in a crimna

matter who is in the best position, professionally and ethically,

12



to determ ne when a conflict exists or will probably develop in the
course of the trial. Holloway, 435 U S. at 485.

Though this Circuit has never held that a “notice of potenti al
conflict” is the functional equivalent of an objection, there is
sone support for the argunent that filing such a notice requires
the district court to conduct an inquiry into the matter. Cf.
United States v. Waynman, 510 F.2d 1020, 1025-26 (5th G r. 1975)
(holding that, in the event of a conflict of interest between co-
def endants, where there was neither objection, claim nor noticeto
the court of any alleged conflict, there is no need for the trial
court to advise the defendant of the right to separate counsel);
see al so Canbell v. Rice, 265 F. 3d 878, 885 (9th Cr. 2001) (citing
Wod, 450 U. S. at 272, as supporting that “[a] court must nmake an
inquiry whenever it knows or reasonably should know that a
potential conflict of interest exists”); United States v. Pergler,
233 F. 3d 1005, 1010 (7th Gr. 2000) (“If an attorney brought the
potential conflict of interest to the attention of the court, or

the court knew or reasonably shoul d have known about the conflict,

we wll assunme prejudice when the judge fails to address the
conflict adequately.”). In the present case, after the filing of
the “notice of potential conflict,” the district court nade an

inquiry into the matter and even had Rodriguez hinself take the
stand to testify before he waived his potential conflict claim

The district court, therefore, fulfilled any obligation it nay have

13



had arising fromthe filing of the “notice of potential conflict,”
and resolved the matter concluding that there was no actual
conflict. Rodri guez never objected again after the court
determ ned that no conflict existed. There is no evidence of any
actual conflict. W hold that, under a “sinple error” standard of
review, the district court’s acceptance of Rodriguez’s waiver of
potential conflict was not in error.

The district court’s reliance on the PSR s recommendation
attributing $275,683.85 to rel evant npney-I| aunderi ng conduct

In his final argunment on appeal, Rodriguez asserts that his
nmoney- | aunderi ng sent ence nust be vacat ed because the total offense
|l evel was erroneously based upon the anmount of income he
purportedly had earned rather than on the anount of noney
[ aundered. A district court’s valuation of funds under U S S G
§ 2S1.1(b) is a determ nation of fact and is therefore reviewed for
clear error. United States v. Hull, 160 F.3d 265, 268 (5th Cr.
1998). Under U.S.S.G 8 2S1.1(b)(2)(C (2000), a defendant’s base
level may be increased by 2 levels if the value of the funds
| aunder ed exceeds nore $200, 000. Rodri guez asserts that it was
error for the PSRto take into account the anount of noney he spent
in excess of his reported i nconme, approximtely $275, 000, instead
of just the anpunt of noney | aundered by him Rodriguez believes
that the court should be |limted to considering the anount that he

| aundered in the counts he was found guilty of commtting.
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Though it is true that 8§ 2Sl1.1(b) takes into account the
anount | aundered, the additional noney m ght also be considered
under U S.S.G 81B1.3 as relevant conduct.! See United States v.
Johnson, 971 F.2d 562, 576 n. 10 (10th Cr. 1992) (noting that
funds associated with uncharged i nstances of noney | aundering can
be added in to determne the offense level if they are within the
scope of relevant conduct under 81Bl.3). However, the application
notes to 81Bl.3 state:

A particular guideline (in the base offense |evel

or in a specific offense characteristic) may

expressly direct that a particular factor be

applied only if the defendant was convicted of a

particular statute. For exanple, in 82Sl1.1

(Laundering of Mnetary Instrunments), subsection

(a)(1) applies if the defendant “is convicted under

18 U.S. C § 1956(a)(1)(A), (a)(2)(A, (a)(3)(A.”

Unl ess such an express direction is included,

convi ction under the statute is not required.
US S G 8§ 1B1.3, application note 6 (1998) (enphasis added). W
read this to nmean that unless a defendant is convicted under the
noney | aundering statute, noney |aundering cannot be used agai nst
hi m as rel evant conduct to enhance his sentence. However, nonies
relating to a conviction under the noney | aundering statute may be
consi dered, and a greater anopunt of noney than is charged in the

i ndi ctment or proven beyond a reasonabl e doubt coul d be consi dered

if it relates to the conviction. |In order for the greater anount

. Though application of U S.S.G § 1B1.3 seens nore suited
in the present case to instances involving an acconplice or a
conspiracy.
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of noney to be considered, the governnent nust prove by a
preponderance of the evidence that the noney was | aundered. Hull,
160 F.3d at 269. 1In the present case, all the governnent has done
is show a di screpancy between the inconme Rodriguez earned and the
val ue of his total assets. The governnent has failed to prove that
$275, 683. 85 was | aundered or how it was | aundered. The governnment
has therefore fallen short of its burden of proof and it was
clearly erroneous for the district court to consider the entire

$275,683.85 without further proof that it was | aundered.?

CONCLUSI ON

Therefore, having carefully reviewed the record of this case
and the parties’ respective briefing and for the reasons set forth
above, we hold that the jury had sufficient evidence on which to
convict Rodriguez, that the district court did not err in the
manner in which it inquired into the potential conflict of interest
bet ween Hajjar and Rodriguez, but that the district court did err
in considering the additional $275,683.85 included in the PSR when

determ ni ng Rodri guez’ s sentence. Therefore, the district court is

2 As an aside, it may be of interest to note (i) that the
2001 version of the Cuidelines nmakes no di stinction between anmounts
involved in the offense and (ii) that under the current version,
Rodri guez woul d have received the two | evel increase anyway, even
if the | ower anount of noney was used.

16



AFFIRMED in part, but the sentence of the district court 1is
VACATED, and the case is REMANDED for re-sentencing.

AFFI RVED in part, and VACATED and REMANDED.

17



